
 
 

The CITY OF DAYTONA BEACH 
                                                                REDEVELOPMENT DIVISION 

POST OFFICE BOX 2451 
 DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32115-2451 

PHONE (386) 671-8180 
                                                                                                                                           FAX (386) 671-8187  

AGENDA 
DOWNTOWN/BALLOUGH ROAD 

REDEVELOPMENT AREA BOARD 
Tuesday, July 1, 2014 12:00 P.M. 

City Hall Commission Chambers 
NOTICE: If any person decides to appeal any decision of the Board at this meeting, they will need a record 
of the proceedings.  Interested persons may wish to ensure that a verbatim record of the proceedings before 
the Board is made, including any testimony or evidence presented to the Board.  The City does not prepare 
or provide a verbatim record of Board proceedings.        

1. Call to Order  
2. Roll Call 
3. Approval of the minutes:  June 3, 2014 
4. DISCUSSION: Downtown Improvement Project Update 
5. Public Comments 
6. Board Comments 
7. Adjournment 

 



DOWNTOWN/BALLOUGH ROAD 
REDEVELOPMENT AREA BOARD 

MINUTES 
Tuesday, June 3, 2014 

 
A meeting of the Downtown/Ballough Road Redevelopment Area Board was held 
Tuesday, June 3, 2014, at 12:00 p.m. in the Commission Chambers, 301 S. Ridgewood 
Avenue, Daytona Beach, Florida.  The following people were present: 
 
Board Members 
 
Mr. Harold Goodemote, Chair 
Mr. Robert Abraham 
Mr. Daniel Harshaw 
Mr. Larry Robinson 
Ms. Cathy Washington 
Mr. Jack White 
Mr. Paul Zappitelli 
 
Board Members Absent: 
 
Dr. Kent Sharples 
Mr. Scott Weidman 
 
Staff Members Present 
 
Mr. Reed Berger, Redevelopment Director 
Mr. Jason Jeffries, Redevelopment Project Manager 
Mr. Ben Gross, Assistant City Attorney 
Ms. Becky Groom, Board Secretary 
 
1. Call to Order 
 

Harold Goodemote, Chair called the meeting to order at 12:06p.m. 
 
2. Roll Call 
 
 Ms. Groom called the roll and noted members present as stated above. 
 
3. Approval of Minutes – April 1, 2014 
 

Board Action: 
 
Ms. Washington made a motion to approve the minutes of the Regular Meeting 
of April 1, 2014.  Mr. Robinson seconded the motion and it was approved 
unanimously (7-0). 

 



4. DEV2014-059, Zoning Map Amendment, Bay Street RDD-2 
 

Mr. Jeffries presented the report which is included as part of the packet.   
 
Mr. White asked if a specific development is requested or if this is just the idea 
for mixed-use development.   
 
Mr. Jeffries stated there is a proposal for a restaurant at 145 N. Ridgewood and 
the site does not have sufficient parking. He stated there is on-street parking on 
Bay Street. 
 
Mr. Harshaw asked if a drive-thru could be located on this corner. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated, currently, a drive-thru restaurant would be permitted in the 
RDD-3 zoning district but would not be allowed in the proposed RDD-2 zoning 
district.  
 
Mr. Goodemote asked for the status of the Land Development Code rewrite. 
 
Mr. Berger stated the rewrite should be presented to the Planning Board at the 
end of summer.  He stated comments were recently sent to Clarion which should 
be the final comments to be addressed.   
 
Applicant’s Presentation: 
 
Dwight Selby, 200 E. Granada Blvd., Ormond Beach, stated he represents the 
owners of the property at the corner of Bay and Palmetto.  Mr. Selby stated there 
is more than enough parking along Bay to accommodate the proposed use.  Mr. 
Selby stated he spoke with the owners of the property to the north of this site and 
all were supportive of the zoning change. 
 
David Riccio, 2112 Oak Meadow Circle, South Daytona, stated he is the owner of 
the proposed Mexigo Restaurant at this site.  Mr. Riccio stated the restaurant will 
serve authentic Mexican food.  Mr. Riccio stated he has lived in the area for 22 
years and feels this location is ideal for his business.  Mr. Riccio stated he plans to 
build a deck on the back of the building in the future for outside entertainment.   
 
Public Comments: 
 

 There were no public comments. 
 
 Board Action: 
 

A motion was made by Mr. Abraham, seconded by Mr. Robinson, to approve 
DEV2014-059, Zoning Map Amendment.  The motion carried unanimously (7-0). 

 
 

 3 



5. DEV2014-067, Conditional Use, Kababji Restaurant 
 

Mr. Jeffries presented the staff report which is included as part of the packet. 
   
Applicant’s Presentation: 
 
Magdy Tadrous, 2515 Unity Drive, Edgewater, Florida, stated he is the applicant.  
Mr. Tadrous stated he previously applied to open a restaurant at this site with 
seating capacity of 300.  Mr. Tadrous stated he now plans to open a restaurant 
with seating capacity of 160.   
 
Mr. Goodemote asked if the site plan that is included in the packet will be the 
general lay-out for the facility. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated yes; if the Board approves the project, that will be the general 
lay-out. 
 
Mr. White asked if there will be a separation in the area between Phases I and II 
of the site. 
 
Mr. Tadrous stated he would try to separate it with a wall. 
 
Mr. Goodemote stated when the original plan was presented, Phase II was 
partitioned off with a separation and stated he feels the area should be separated 
with more than a curtain. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated the previous tenant proposed a separation but Mr. Tadrous has 
leased the entire space. 
 
Mr. Goodemote asked what area is considered in the 75% calculation for table 
coverage. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated just the front area is considered for Phase I. 
 
Mr. White asked if there will be a separation between Phase I and Phase II so the 
Phase II area will not be utilized while operating Phase I. 

 
Mr. Tadrous stated he will not be using the Phase II area; but stated he will have 
to prepare it, and before he can do that, he will have to come back to the City for 
approval. 
 
Mr. Zappitelli asked if Phase II will be part of Mr. Tadrous’ liquor license 
application. 
 
Mr. Tadrous stated it would not be since he would have to use the area within 
three months. 

 4 



 
Mr. Goodemote stated he was uncomfortable with having a space wide open and 
then just permitting a part of it to be used.  Mr. Goodemote stated if the Board is 
going to follow the guidelines of the code, the entire area should be calculated for 
the 75% coverage or it should be separated in some permanent manner. 
 
Mr. Goodemote asked Mr. Jeffries to address the alcohol beverage service and 
entertainment for this site. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated the applicant did not submit anything saying entertainment will 
be provided. 
 
Mr. Tadrous stated entertainment is not planed until Phase II is completed. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated the conditions are outlined and include the requirement for a 
full service kitchen, which is outlined on the floor plan.  Mr. Jeffries stated the 
requirement is for food service to be available up until one hour prior to closing, 
and that is an operational issue that if it is not met would become a Code 
Enforcement issue.  Mr. Jeffries stated there is a requirement that 75% of the area 
be table coverage and it appears the Board is concerned about the area that may 
be used for this calculation.  Mr. Jeffries stated live entertainment is permitted and 
alcohol beverage service must cease by midnight during the week and 2:00 a.m. 
on Friday and Saturday. 
 
Mr. White asked what the proposed hours of operation will be. 
 
Mr. Tadrous stated he proposes to open the restaurant six days a week, Monday 
through Saturday, with the hours of operation being 11:00 a.m. to 10:00 p.m. 
 
Mr. Zappitelli stated he feels Phase II should be a fire-separated room. 
 
Mr. Gross asked for clarification from the Board regarding the open space. 
 
Mr. Goodemote stated there are concerns regarding the open space due to the 
history of the property.  Mr. Goodemote stated to have an open area that does not 
comply with the City’s requirements is a concern. 
 
Mr. Berger asked Mr. Gross if the Board can place a condition on the approval to 
segregate the Phase II area. 
 
Mr. Gross stated if the Board is not satisfied that 75% of the area will be used for 
seating, the Board does not have to approve the application. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated the Board could deny the application and the applicant would 
have to resubmit a revised plan to better show the customer service area. 
 

 5 



Mr. Goodemote stated he has concerns about the open space since he does not see 
delineation between Phase I and II of the project. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated since this is one tenant space, he does not believe the applicant 
would have to meet the fire separation rules.    Mr. Jeffries asked if an 8 foot wall 
to separate the area would satisfy the Board’s concerns. 
 
Mr. Goodemote stated that he personally would feel more comfortable if there 
was a separation so as to avoid opportunistic use of the Phase II area. 
 
Mr. Tadrous stated he will place a wall between the two phases. 
 
Mr. Robinson stated that if a separate tenant used the Phase II area, a fire rated 
wall would have to be installed; but since the area is planned for one tenant, a 
partial wall would be fine. 
 
Mr. Tadrous stated he would install a partial wall. 
 
Mr. Goodemote stated the wall should follow the delineation of Phase I and Phase 
II and stated exiting the building through the Phase II area would not be 
acceptable. 
 
Mr. Tadrous stated there are exits at the front, one through the kitchen, and two on 
the sides. 
 

 Board Action: 
 

A motion was made by Ms. Washington, seconded by Mr. Robinson to approve 
DEV2014-067, Conditional Use, Kababji Restaurant with outdoor table service, 
including a condition that a non-fire rated wall be added between Phases I and II 
and the applicant must address all outstanding staff comments.  The motion 
carried unanimously (7-0). 

 
6. Discussion:  Downtown Improvement Project update 
 

Mr. Jeffries stated the parking lots are completed with the exception of 
installation of the flexipave. 

 
 Mr. Zappitelli stated the landscape island behind his business is not complete. 
 

Mr. Jeffries stated he will look into that item. 
 

Mr. Harshaw asked if the bicycle racks in front of the bridge could be moved and 
asked if a 10 x 10 foot pad could be installed near the park for all bicycle racks.  
He stated there are no bicycle racks in the rear parking lot. 
 

 6 



Mr. Zappitelli stated an individual chains their bicycle to a park bench and leaves 
it there all day. 
 
Mr. Berger encouraged Board members to call him when they have concerns such 
as the bicycle parking issue. 
 

7. Discussion:  Marina District Update 
 

Beth Lemke, Planning Solutions, 206 N. Beach Street, presented the report which 
is included as part of the packet. 

 
Mr. Goodemote asked the timeframes for implementation of the items outlined 
in the report. 
 
Ms. Lemke stated some of the items are moving quickly.  She stated funding  
requests have been submitted to two different State sources for the design and 
permitting of the bridge raising, dredging, and boat ramp.  Ms. Lemke stated a 
determination will be made on the funding by the State in July; and if the 
funding for design is received, next year grants will be applied for to do the 
construction of the projects.  Ms. Lemke stated the preliminary construction cost 
is $3,000,000.  Ms. Lemke stated the grants are 100% and do not require city 
funding. 
 
Ms. Lemke stated a grant request has been submitted for $200,000 for Sickle Park.   
 
Mr. White asked at what point a theme should be determined so the area can be 
promoted. 
 
Ms. Lemke stated she feels a theme should be decided. 
 
Mr. Berger stated not all property owners in the area have been contacted 
regarding this project.  Mr. Berger stated the leadership for the project will come 
from the City Manager’s office and noted Public Works will play a key role.   
 
Ms. Lemke stated she feels there is a real opportunity for partnership in order to 
make the project happen and feels a strategic action plan should be developed. 
 
Mr. White stated the concept should be presented to the public to receive their 
input and response. 
 
Ms. Washington stated once the public hears about the project, they will be 
happy to join in and interject their thoughts.  Ms. Washington stated this is an 
excellent start. 
 
Mr. Harshaw expressed concern that residential is not included in the project. 
 

 7 



Ms. Lemke stated the area near the canal basin is mixed use where residential 
could be included. 
 
Mr. Berger stated the report has not been presented to the City Commission and 
that will be the next step. 

 
8. Discussion:  Riverfront Master Plan Implementation 
 

Mr. Jeffries provided the implementation schedule for the Riverfront Master Plan 
to the Board.   
 
Mr. Goodemote stated when this item was discussed at the April Board meeting, 
it was requested that this item be placed on the next meeting agenda in order to 
prepare to make a presentation to the City Commission in order to move forward 
with Phase I of the work. 
 
Mr. Berger stated the next step would be to have the 30% design engineering 
completed which may not endorse the plan as is presented.  Mr. Berger stated the 
City Manager would have to approve proceeding with this phase. 
 
Mr. White asked how much it would cost to have a feasibility study completed. 
 
Mr. Jeffries stated he has talked with an engineering firm and determined that it 
would cost $100,000 to do the 30% engineering study for the area from Orange 
Avenue to Bay.  

 
Mr. Goodemote stated what the Board talked about in April was the sidewalk 
expansion and the parking issues.  Mr.  Goodemote stated the Board had agreed 
that it wanted something done that could be completed at a relatively low cost in 
order to get something moving.  Mr. Goodemote stated to spend $100,000 for a 
sidewalk expansion is not what he envisioned.   
 
Mr. Berger stated there appears to be a misunderstanding of the scope of the 
request and stated he believes the area that is being discussed is sidewalk to 
sidewalk from Orange to Bay.  The Board agreed by consensus. 
 
Mr. Berger stated staff is going to be looking at additional parking in the three 
blocks along Beach and behind Beach Street. 
 

9. Public Comments 
 

There were no public comments. 
 
10. Board Comments 
 

There were no Board comments. 
 

 8 



11. Adjournment 
 

There being no further business to come before the Board, the meeting was 
adjourned at 2:08 p.m. 
 
 
 
 
 
________________________________  ______________________________ 
 
Harold Goodemote, Chair   Becky Groom 
      Recording Secretary 
 

 9 



                             

THE CITY OF DAYTONA BEACH 
REDEVELOPMENT DIVISION 

POST OFFICE BOX 2451 
DAYTONA BEACH, FLORIDA 32115-2451 

PHONE (386) 671-8180 
Fax (386) 671-8187 

 
 
 

 
MEMORANDUM 

 
 
DATE:  June 27, 2014 
 
TO:  Downtown / Ballough Road Redevelopment Board Members 
 
FROM:  Jason Jeffries, Project Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Downtown Project Update 
   
 
Attached is an update on Beach Street Streetscape Improvement projects originally 
requested by the DDA and the Downtown / Ballough Road Redevelopment Board.   

 

 

AGENDA ITEM: 4 

1 
 



                             
Project Need Status 

Parking Lot Lighting  Improve parking lot safety at night Completed 

Center Block Parking Lot 
Improvements 

Improve operational safety and appearance with new 
landscaping  

Completed 

* Landscape (Flexi-pave) to be installed 

Repaint Arches and Street 
Directories 

Original paint & clear-coating is beginning to flake 
and color schemes need to be updated to 
complement current marketing for Downtown 

Completed 

Replace Pedestrian Light Fixtures Original fixtures are discolored and resulting in less 
light on the sidewalk for pedestrians 

Dickens & Associates under contract & preparing 
analysis. Awaiting project funding approval. 

Replace Trash Receptacles Replace to have one style on the streetscape  Staff preparing cost estimates and receptacle 
recommendation.  

Replace Arch Up-lights Fixtures have water damage and not working Dickens & Associates under contract & preparing 
analysis. Awaiting project funding approval. 

Replace Palm Tree Up-lights Current lights not working; improved lighting and 
ambiance for Beach Street 

Dickens & Associates under contract & preparing 
analysis. Awaiting project funding approval. 

Replace Palm Trees and Install 
Tree Grates 

Base of trees have outgrown original tree area 
causing pavers to heave 

Staff preparing cost estimates and tree 
recommendation. 

Directional Sign Program Improved signage for parking lots and destination in 
Downtown 

3rd Public Meeting held; consultant preparing sign 
assessment. Temporary measures installed.  

City Island Electrical Improve electrical capacity for vendors with prepared 
foods for Saturday Farmers’ Market 

Completed 

Parking Meters Create customer parking turnover Staff preparing Downtown parking strategy to be 
completed in the Fall.  

Federal Ally Opening Easy access to rear parking from Beach Street for 
customers 

Staff does not recommend; DDA requesting 
temporary opening during Orange Avenue 
construction.  

Parking Lot Dumpsters Consolidate dumpsters to improve parking lot 
appearance and increase parking spaces 

Project to be bid in July 

Beach Street Streetscape Reduce traffic lanes to two, increase the sidewalks on 
west side and net additional parking spaces. 

Project on hold; Redevelopment Board requesting 
preliminary engineering to proceed. 

 
2 

 


	                                                                REDEVELOPMENT DIVISION
	AGENDA
	DOWNTOWN/BALLOUGH ROAD
	City Hall Commission Chambers



